AGREEMENT

between

BOARD OF EDUCATION

MANSFIELD TOWNSHIP

WARREN COUNTY

and

MANSFIELD EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	1
ARTICLE I – Recognition	2
ARTICLE II – Grievance Procedure	3
ARTICLE III – Insurance Protection	7
ARTICLE IV – Tuition Reimbursement	9
ARTICLE V - Temporary Leave of Absence	11
ARTICLE VI – Increments from Salary Schedule	13
ARTICLE VII – Differential between Educational Levels	14
ARTICLE VIII – Management Rights Clause	15
ARTICLE IX – Longevity and Retirement	16
ARTICLE X – Agency Shop	18
ARTICLE XI – Negotiation of Successor Agreement	20
ARTICLE XII – No Strike Pledge	21
ARTICLE XIII – Separability and Savings	22
ARTICLE XIV – Fully Bargained Provisions	23
ARTICLE XV – Length of Work Year and Day	24
ARTICLE XV I Monetary Reimbursement	26
ARTICLE XVII-Miscellaneous	28
ARTICLE XVIII - Professional Development	29
ARTICLE XIX – Salary Schedule	30
ARTICLE XX - Duration of Agreement	31

PREAMBLE

This agreement was entered into -August 13, 2015, by and between the Board of Education of Mansfield Township, Warren County, New Jersey, hereinafter called the Board, and the Mansfield Education Association, hereinafter called the Association. In consideration of the following mutual covenants, it is hereby agreed as follows:

ARTICLE I – <u>RECOGNITION</u>

Pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 123, Public laws of 1974, known as the New Jersey Employer-Employee Relations Act, the Board of Education does hereby recognize the Mansfield Education Association to be the exclusive representative for full-time and part-time certificated staff in the bargaining unit consisting of:

- 1. All certified teachers
- 2. Specialists including:
 - a. Reading Specialist
 - b. Learning Disability Teacher Consultant
 - c. Speech Therapist
 - d. School Social Worker
 - e. School Psychologist
 - f. Occupational Therapist
 - g. School Counselor
 - h. Media Specialist
- 3. Nurses

The bargaining unit excludes all other personnel.

ARTICLE II - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

A. Definition

- 1. A "grievance" is a formal complaint that a dispute exists concerning the interpretation, application, or violation of policies, agreements and administrative decisions affecting the terms and conditions of public employment. It is expressly understood, however, that disputes concerning terms and conditions of employment governed by statute or administrative regulation, incorporated by reference in this Agreement either expressly or by operation of law, shall not be processed beyond Level III herein; rather, such disputes shall be referred to the appropriate forum, if any. The foregoing sentence should not be construed as limiting the Association from pursuing such disputes in a forum that would otherwise be appropriate. Furthermore, disputes involving the discipline of employees covered by this Agreement, both tenured and non-tenured shall be governed by the appeal procedure set forth in Title 18A and other applicable statues and regulations. It is further understood that this grievance procedure cannot be invoked to obtain any manner or any result which the Association raised or could have raised at the bargaining table during the negotiations that led to this Agreement.
 - 2. An "aggrieved person" is the person or persons making the claim.
- 3. A "party in interest" is the person or persons making the claim and any person who might be required to take action or against whom action might be taken in order to resolve the claim

B. Procedure

1. If a grievance is not filed within a period of thirty (30) calendar days after its alleged occurrence or after the grievant's awareness of its alleged occurrence, then in fact the grievance will be deemed abandoned and cannot thereafter be filed in any forum whatsoever.

3

- 2. All grievances shall be initiated in writing and shall proceed in writing through all levels. To be effective, such written grievances must set forth all reasonable detail, the facts underlying the grievance, the specific violations(s) at issue, the relief sought, and a reasonably detailed statement of the reasons why the decisions rendered below (if any) are claimed to be unsatisfactory to the aggrieved person. Responses and decisions at all levels shall also be in writing.
- 3. Since it is important that grievances be processed as rapidly as possible, the number of days indicated at each level should be considered as a maximum and every effort should be made to expedite the process. The time limits specified may, however, be extended by mutual agreement.
- 4. In the event that a grievance is filed at such time that it cannot be processed through all the steps in this grievance procedure by the end of the school year, the grievance procedure shall continue through the summer months as necessary to resolve the matter.

5. Level I

- a. The grievant shall first discuss the grievance with the Principal either directly or through the Association's designated representative(s).
- b. A decision will be rendered in writing within five (5) school days.

6. Level II

If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Level I, the aggrieved person may request in writing a meeting with the Superintendent. To be timely and effective, the writing must be filed within ten (10) school days after receipt (or after the due date) of the Level I decision. Such meeting shall be convened within ten (10) school days after receipt of said request by the Superintendent. A decision will be rendered in writing within ten (10) school days after such meeting.

7. Level III

If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Level II, the aggrieved person may request in writing a meeting with the Personnel Committee of the whole Board. To be timely and effective, the writing must be filed within ten (10) school days after receipt (or after the due date) of the Level II decision. Such a meeting shall be commenced within fifteen (15) school days after receipt of said request by the Personnel Committee. A decision will be rendered in writing within ten (10) school days after such meeting.

8. Level IV

- a. If the aggrieved person is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level III, or if no decision has been rendered within ten (10) school days, the grievant may, within ten (10) school days request in writing that the appropriate committee of the Association submit the grievance to arbitration. If the Committee of the Association determines that the grievance is meritorious, it may submit the grievance to arbitration within fifteen (15) school days after receipt of a request by the aggrieved person. Written notice of submission to arbitration shall be sent to the Board of Education.
- b. Within ten (10) school days after such written notice of submission to arbitration is received, a request for a list of arbitrators may be made to the Public Employees Relations Committee (PERC). The parties shall then be bound by the rules and procedures of PERC in the selection of an arbitrator.
- c. The arbitrator so selected shall confer with the representative of the Board, and the aggrieved person and hold hearings promptly and shall issue his decision not later than twenty (20) days from the date of the close of the hearings, or if oral hearings have been waived, then from the date of the final statement and proofs on the issues are submitted to him. The arbitrator's decision shall be in writing and shall set forth his findings of fact, reasoning, and conclusions on the issues submitted. The arbitrator shall be without power or authority to make any decision which requires the commission of an act prohibited by law, or which may violate, expand, subtract or modify the terms of this agreement. The decision of the arbitrator shall be submitted to the Board and the aggrieved person and shall be final and binding on the parties.
 - d. The costs for the services of the arbitrator including per diem expenses, if any,

and actual necessary travels, subsistence expenses, and the cost of the hearing room, shall be borne equally by the Board and the Association. Any other expenses incurred shall be paid by the party incurring them.

C. Rights of Teachers to Representation:

- 1. Any aggrieved person may be represented at all stages of the grievance procedure by himself, or at his option, by a representative selected or approved by the Association. When a teacher is not represented by the Association, the Association shall have the right to be present and to state its view at all stages of the grievance procedure.
- 2. No reprisals of any kind shall be taken by the Board or by any member of the Administration against any participant in the grievance procedure by reason of such participation.

D. Rights of Administration and Board of Education to Representation:

Administrators and/or Board of Education members may be represented in any grievance procedure at his/her or their option by a representative selected by the Board of Education or Administration.

E. Miscellaneous

All meetings and hearings under this grievance procedure shall not be conducted in public and shall include only the parties in interest and their designated or selected representatives.

ARTICLE III - INSURANCE PROTECTION

A. In order to qualify for enrollment in the district's health insurance plans (which include health insurance, major medical coverage, prescription and/or dental), the employee must work on a regular basis not less than 25 hours per week. "Buying in" to the district's health insurance plans by employees working less than 25 hours per week is prohibited. Any part time employee working twenty-five (25) hours or more shall be entitled to insurance coverage if employed and working in the district prior to June 30, 2012. Employee contribution toward health insurance shall be in accordance with law. The Board agrees to pay the remaining cost of said coverage, after employee contribution toward health insurance is made by employee in accordance with law. The final decision as to selection of carrier will be the Board's prerogative after extending consideration to the suggestions and comments of the Mansfield Education Association. The coverage benefits of any new carrier must be equal to or better than the coverage benefits of the current plan, School Employees Health Benefits Program (SEHBP).

B. The employees (and their dependents) of the Board of Education, who meet the eligibility requirements for enrollment as noted in "A", above, will be offered a prescription drug plan. The Board agrees to pay the remaining cost of said coverage for eligible tenured employees and single coverage for non-tenured employees after employee contribution toward prescription drug plan is made by employee in accordance with law. The co-pay will be fifteen dollars (\$15.00) for generic and twenty dollars (\$20.00) for non-generic/brand specific prescription drugs at the pharmacy. Mail-in prescriptions will be ten dollars (\$10.00) for generic and ten dollars (\$10.00) for non-generic/brand specific prescription drugs. The final decision as to selection of carrier will be the Board's prerogative after extending consideration to the suggestions and comments of the Mansfield Education Association. The coverage benefits of any new carrier must be equal to or better than the coverage benefits of the Horizon Blue Cross/Blue Shield of New Jersey.

- C. The employees (and their dependents) of the Board of Education, who meet the eligibility requirements for enrollment as noted in "A", above, will be offered a dental plan program. The Board agrees to pay 100% of the cost of said coverage for tenured employees and single coverage for non-tenured employees. The final decision as to selection of carrier will be the Board's prerogative after extending consideration to the suggestions and comments of the Mansfield Education Association. The coverage benefits of any new carrier must be equal to or better than the coverage benefits of the Delta Dental Plan, Inc.
- D.. Full prescription and. dental coverage is available to non-tenured employees at their own expense (through the carriers selected by the Board). Non-tenured employees will become eligible for full coverage the year tenure is granted.
- E. The health benefit plan may be waived in exchange for the maximum percentage allowable by law, but not to exceed 50% of the annual premium costs or \$5,000.00, whichever is less. Payment may be made in two installments, one in late June and one in late December, however it will be prorated based upon the date of the application and date of employment. Taxes are the responsibility of the person waiving the benefits. An application for the waiver must be submitted to the Business Office by the deadline established by the Board of Education. Proof of alternating coverage must be provided with the waiver application. Immediate reinstatement into the benefits plan may occur upon proof of any of the following:
 - a. Spouse's death
 - b. Spouse's disability
 - c. Spouse's loss of employment
 - d. Involuntary reduction in spouse's work hours resulting in loss of coverage
 - e. Divorce or legal separation
 - f. Activation of your spouse to full-time military status

ARTICLE IV - TUITION REIMBURSEMENT

Bargaining unit employees shall be entitled to reimbursement of tuition upon the following conditions:

- 1. Approval of the proposed course(s) of study by the Superintendent, prior to course registration. The approval of all courses is at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- 2. Employee must present written evidence of amount of tuition and achievement of a minimum grade of "B."
- 3. The maximum reimbursement will be the per credit rate of the New Jersey State University tuition at the beginning of each semester not to exceed the following number of credits per teacher per year.
 - Teaching year 1 no reimbursement
 - Teaching year 2 3 credits
 - Teaching year 3 6 credits
 - Teaching year 4 and longer 12 credits

4. Courses must be:

- Graduate level.
- From a duly authorized institution of higher education as defined in section 3 of P.L. 1986, c.87 (C.18A:3-15.3).
- Must be related to the employee's current or future job responsibilities (promise of employment).
- 5. Ceiling of \$22,500 for each year of the contract. If the ceiling is reached in any one year of this contract, the Board will increase the ceiling by ten percent (10%) for the following

year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the particular institution utilizes a pass-fail grading system, the employee must first make the Superintendent aware of same when submitting the course for approval. If the Superintendent approves the course, such approval will entitle the employee to reimbursement upon presentation of written evidence of achievement of a "pass" grade.

6. If a teacher voluntarily leaves the district prior to two years after receiving tuition reimbursement, that tuition paid to the teacher must be repaid to the district. Extenuating circumstances may be considered by the Board to waive the reimbursement to the district.

ARTICLE V - TEMPORARY LEAVE OF ABSENCE

A. Personal days shall only be granted to full-time employees of the unit. Personal days for part-time employees shall be pro-rated to the proportion that their time worked is to that of a full-time employee. Personal leave shall be granted with pay. Such leave shall be three (3) days per school year, without specific reason stated to the Superintendent prior to granting of leave, subject to 24 hours notice to administration, and that those allowed days be utilized, if necessary, during the months, October through May, in that contract year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, personal days may be utilized in September and June with reason provided in advance to, and upon prior approval from, Administration. No employee will be allowed to use personal days to extend a holiday period. During each year of this contract, any unused personal days will be added to the employee's accumulated sick leave.

- B. Absence with full pay will be allowed for a total of five (5) days for each death in the event of death in the immediate family of the teacher. Immediate family will include: spouse, parents, children, step-parent, step-children, domestic partner, and persons permanently residing in the employee's household. In addition to the foregoing, absence with full pay will be allowed for a total of three (3) days for each death in the event of the death of a teacher's siblings, parents-in-law, siblings-in-law, grandparents, and grandparents-in-law. Said days will be taken as listed:
 - For 5 days: 3 days immediately following the death for funeral and related tasks, and 2 days related to the circumstances to be taken within one month from the date of death.
 - For 3 days, 2 days taken immediately following the death and 1 for related circumstances within one month from the date of death.
- C. Employees desiring permission from the Superintendent for paid leave to attend job-related meetings shall submit such requests in writing sufficiently in advance to permit the Superintendent to review such requests with the Board of Education, if he/she so elects, prior to the date of the requested paid leave. Determinations of the Superintendent concerning the number of such paid leaves

and concerning whether such leaves are job-related, shall be rendered as a value judgment in the exercise of the Superintendent's managerial discretion. Any rejection shall be submitted in writing to said employee with reasons stated.

- D. In accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:30-2, full-time employees governed by this Agreement who are steadily employed by the Board of Education or who are protected by tenure in their office, position, or employment under the provisions of Title 18A or any other law, except persons in the classified service of the civil service under Title II, Civil Service, shall be allowed sick leave with full pay for ten (10) days in any school year. Sick leave for part-time employees shall be pro-rated to the proportion that their time worked is to that of a full-time employee. Any unused sick leave shall accrue.
- E. In the event of illness in the immediate family that creates an emergency situation, a full-time employee may use up to four (4) days per school year with full pay without reference to sick leave. Illness in the family days for part-time employees shall be pro-rated to the proportion that their time worked is to that of a full-time employee. Immediate family is here defined as parents, spouse, own children step-parent, step-children, domestic partner. Other family relationships are to be determined by the Superintendent.
- F. To be eligible for a salary increment, an employee must work a minimum of ninety (90) days of the school year that leave commences or terminates.

ARTICLE VI – INCREMENTS FROM SALARY SCHEDULE

- A. All salary increases are based on meritorious service.
- B. The Board of Education may withhold the salary increase for inefficiency or other just cause. No employee covered by this contract shall be disciplined without just cause.
- C. The affected employee may file a grievance under the established grievance procedure, but any such grievance shall not be processed beyond Level III.
- D. An increment is defined as the dollar value between each level of experience credited per the salary schedule.

ARTICLE VII - DIFFERENTIAL BETWEEN EDUCATION LEVELS

A. The differential between education levels as listed in the policy manual shall not be less than \$500.00.

. B. The Board has the option to establish the starting salary at Step 1. With regard to the remaining steps, the Association and the Board shall mutually prepare the recommended guides.

ARTICLE VIII - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS CLAUSE

- A. The Board of Education reserves to itself sole jurisdiction and authority over matters of policy and retains the right, subject only to the limitations imposed by the language of this Agreement, in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations:
 - 1. To direct employees of the school district.
 - 2. To hire, promote, transfer, assign, and retain employees in positions in the school district, and to suspend, demote, discharge, or take other disciplinary action against employees.
 - 3. To relieve employees from duty because of lack of work or for other legitimate reasons.
 - 4. To maintain efficiency of the school district operations.
 - 5. To determine the methods, means, and personnel by which such operations are to be conducted.
 - 6. To establish reasonable work rules.
 - 7. To take whatever action may be necessary to carry out the operation of the school district in emergency situations.
- B. In the exercise of the foregoing rights, the adoption by the Board of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this Agreement and the laws and judicial decisions of the State of New Jersey and of the United States. The foregoing rights are by no means exhaustive but illustrative of the Board's extensive managerial prerogatives.
- C. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to deny or restrict the Board of its rights, responsibilities and authority under Title 18A or other National, State, County, or local laws, ordinances or policies.

ARTICLE IX - LONGEVITY AND RETIREMENT

A. Bargaining unit employees shall be entitled to annual longevity payments depending upon years of experience credited in Mansfield Township. Bargaining unit members hired as of September, 1997, will accrue credits towards longevity based upon their years employed in Mansfield Township School District.

- During the 15th through 19th years, the annual longevity payment shall be \$800.
- During the 20th through 24th years, the annual longevity payment shall be \$1,950.
- During the 25th through 29th years, the annual longevity payment shall be \$2,350.
- During the 30th year and beyond, the annual longevity payment shall be \$2,700.

Longevity amounts will begin on the 1st day of school year, or on the employee's anniversary date. The payment shall begin on the 1st day of the employee's 15th year, etc.

B. Bargaining Unit employees shall be entitled to a retirement payment as outlined below:

Bargaining Unit members shall be entitled at retirement to payment equal to \$175 for each year of service in Mansfield Township School District. They shall further be entitled to the amount of \$50 for every unused day of accumulated sick leave. Effective July 1, 2015, payout for unused accumulated sick leave shall be capped at \$9,000. For the purposes of this plan, the word "retirement" shall be utilized within the meaning of the Teachers' Pension and Annuity Fund Law, except that it shall not include "deferred retirement" within the meaning of N.J.S.A. 18A:66-36. It is the responsibility of the individual unit member to notify the Board of his/her intent to retire no later than January 15th of the year preceding retirement. If in an emergency situation the unit member decides to retire after the January 15th date for notification, s/he shall be paid in two (2) fiscal years from the current fiscal year.

The \$175 payment described in the first sentence of paragraph B shall be eliminated for all employees hired on or after July 1, 2015. For employees who were employed by the district as of June 30, 2015, these employees will have their years of service capped as of June 30, 2018, and shall accrue no additional years of service towards the \$175 payment beyond June 30, 2018.

In addition, if the member dies while employed, the retirement payment as outlined in Section B above will be granted to the estate of the deceased member.

ARTICLE X - AGENCY SHOP

A. Upon receipt of written authorization, the Board shall deduct a representation fee from the wages of each employee who is not a member of the Association and shall remit the monies collected to the Association once a month, not later than the 15th of the month.

B. With respect to representation fee deductions, the Association shall indemnify, defend, and hold the Board harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, or other forms of liability that shall arise out of, or by reason of, action taken by the Board pursuant to the provisions of the Article, provided that:

- 1. The Board gives the Association timely notice in writing of any claim, demand, suit or other form of liability in regard to which it will seek to implement the paragraph; and
- 2. It is expressly understood that the above will not apply to any claim, demand, suit or other form of liability which may arise as a result of any type of willful misconduct by the Board or the Board's imperfect execution of the obligations imposed upon it by this Article.
- C. Effective September 1, 1984, any employee in the bargaining unit on the effective date of this Agreement who does not join the Association within 30 days thereafter, any new employee who does not join within 30 days of initial employment within the unit and any employee previously employed within the unit who does not join within 10 days of reentry into employment within the unit shall pay a representation fee to the Association by automatic payroll deduction.
- D. Representation fee shall be in an amount equal to 85% of the regular Association membership dues, fees and assessments as certified to the Board by the Association. The Association may revise its certification of the amount of the representation fee at any time to reflect changes in the Association membership dues, fees, and assessments. The Association entitlement to the representation fee shall continue beyond the termination date of this agreement so long as the Association remains the majority representative of the employees in the unit, provided that no

modification is made in this provision by a successor Agreement between the Association and the Board.

- E. For the purposes of this provision, employees who are reappointed from year to year shall be considered to be in continuous employment.
- F. The Association shall establish and maintain at all times a demand and return system as provided by N.J.S.A. 34:13A-5.4(2) (c) and (3) (L. 1979.c.477), and membership in the Association shall be available to all employees in the unit on an equal basis at all times. In the event the Association fails to maintain such a system or if membership is not so available, the Board shall immediately cease making such deductions.
- G. On or about the last day of each month, beginning with the month this Agreement becomes effective, the Board will submit to the Association, a list of all employees who began their employment in a bargaining unit position during the preceding thirty (30) day period. The list will include names, job titles, and dates of employment for all such employees.

ARTICLE XI - NEGOTIATION OF SUCCESSOR AGREEMENT

The parties agree to enter into collective negotiations over a successor agreement in accordance with Chapter 123, Public Laws 1974, in a good faith effort to reach agreement on all matters concerning the terms and conditions of teachers' employment. Such negotiations shall begin as directed in the timetable for negotiations in accordance with the rules and regulations of PERC. Any agreement so negotiated shall apply to all teachers, be reduced to writing, be signed by the Board and Association, and be adopted by the Board.

In accordance with the Neptune decision, the parties mutually agree that should negotiations for a successor contract to the 2015-2018 collective negotiations agreement not be completed prior to June 30, 2018, unit members shall not be advanced on the salary guide either vertically or horizontally, and shall receive no increase in compensation until a new agreement is reached. Unit member shall continue to receive the same salary received on June 30, 2018 until such time as a successor agreement is reached.

Movement on the guide shall be interpreted to include a vertical guide step increase and/or a column differential based on educational credit or degree attainment, and any increase in longevity based on years of service. Unit members shall have their salary "frozen" at the June 30, 2018 rate until negotiations for a new contract are completed, the agreed upon salary increases have been distributed through mutually acceptable guides, and both parties have ratified the agreement.

ARTICLE XII - NO STRIKE PLEDGE

The Association covenants and agrees that during the term of this Agreement neither the Association nor any person acting on its behalf will cause, authorize, condone, or support, nor will any of its members take part in, any strike (i.e., the concerted failure to report for duty, or willful absence of any employee from his position, or stoppage of work or abstinence in whole or in part, from the full, faithful, and proper performance of the employee's duties of employment,) work stoppage, slow down or walkout. The Association agrees that such action would constitute a material breach of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XIII - SEPARABILITY AND SAVINGS

If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Agreement, or any application thereof to any employee or group of employees is held to be invalid by operation of law or by a Court or other tribunal of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be inoperative except to the extent allowable by law, but all other provisions shall not be affected thereby and shall continue in full force and effect.

ARTICLE XIV - FULLY BARGAINED PROVISIONS

A. This Agreement represents and incorporates the complete and final understanding and settlement by the parties of all negotiable issues which were or could have been the subject of collective negotiations. The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations that resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law in the area of collective negotiations, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Board and Association, for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to, bargain or negotiate with respect to any subject or matter referred to or covered in this Agreement, or with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subjects or matters may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both parties at the time they negotiated or signed the Agreement.

B. This Agreement shall not be modified in whole or in part by the parties except by an instrument in writing duly executed by both parties.

ARTICLE XV - LENGTH OF WORK YEAR AND DAY

- A. The length of the working year for employees governed by this Agreement shall be 184 days.
- B. Employees governed by this Agreement shall be granted an early dismissal day Before Thanksgiving, Winter Recess (December), and Spring Recess.
- C. The 178th and 179th student days shall be ½-student contact days. Employees governed by this Agreement shall remain on the premises and perform their administrative duties and tasks until 2:30 p.m. The 180th student day shall be an early dismissal day for employees governed by this Agreement provided that all checkout requirements have been met and verified by an administrator or his/her designee
 - D. Employees will be on the job for 7 hours and 10 minutes each day unless the safety of the students is at risk. With such an occurrence, the teachers will stay until the potentially dangerous situation is rectified as quickly as possible. After the bus routes are determined, teachers will be notified of the start and end times of each school day.
 - E. At the discretion of the administration, employees may be required to remain after the end of the regular working day for the purpose of attending faculty or other professional meetings no more than 2 days per month. Such meetings shall begin after the workday and be held no more than 1 hour from the end of said schedule.
 - F. It is expected that full and early dismissal in-service days will end 15 minutes prior to normal end time with the exception of parent teacher conferences. Full in-service days will include one (1)_hour for lunch. Early dismissal professional days will include two hours of in-service activities.
 - G. Full-time employees or part-time employees will have a duty-free lunch of at least thirty (30) minutes except on the designated early dismissal days for employees.

H. All contracted staff shall attend one Back To School evening session as established by administration. These days shall be early dismissal days for students and an early dismissal day for employees governed by this Agreement if returning for the evening session. Employees not returning for the evening session shall remain on the premises and perform their administrative duties and tasks until fifteen (15) minutes prior to normal ending time.

I. In the fall, all contracted staff shall attend two sessions of evening conferences and one afternoon session. There will be one additional afternoon conference in the spring. Each session of conferences shall not be more than three (3) hours. Administration shall designate the starting time for each session of conferences, and all staff members must remain for a minimum of two (2) hours regardless of the number of conferences that they have scheduled.

ARTICLE XVI - MONETARY REIMBURSEMENT

A. When an employee participates in hours outside the working day with the approval of administration, the following payment will prevail as listed. All compensation requires prior approval by administration. Effective July 1, 2015, compensation for the following will be:

1. Homebound instruction

\$50.00 per hour

2. Curriculum work

\$50.00 per hour

Compensation for the following will be \$35.00/hour:

- 1. Extended School Year
- After School Clubs
- 3. Before and after school program
- 4. Professional and/or Parent development presentations before or after school hours. In lieu of payment at the hourly rate, any teacher who presents a program equal to ½ day or full day, may earn compensatory time for the ½ day or full day. Any compensatory time earned may only be used in ½ day or full-day allotments based upon the same conditions as use for sick days. Any hours less than a ½ day or full day will be paid on an hourly basis.
- B. Any employee who is required by the Board or the Administration to drive to employment-related activities which take place away from the school building and who has the advance approval of the school principal shall be compensated for the use of his/her own

automobile. Compensation for mileage shall be made at the NJOMB rate until such time that the NJOMB rate is no longer required as a result of a PERC/court decision or applicable legislation. At that time, the contract shall revert back to the IRS rate with appropriate retroactive adjustments.

C. Certified staff members will be scheduled such that each employee will receive a daily preparation period of forty minutes of non-pupil contact time. This will pertain to the regular 7 hour and 10 minute workday. If an employee is directed by administration to supervise a class during his regular preparation period and does not receive an equivalent preparation period at some other time during the day, he/she shall be compensated \$50.00 for such period.

ARTICLE XVII – MISCELLANEOUS

- A. The Board agrees to maintain, during the term of this Agreement, the existing practices regarding Association use of the building, Association distribution of materials in teachers' mailboxes, and Association use of office equipment. Additionally, the Association shall be permitted to utilize a photocopying machine. All of the above shall be contingent upon the prior approval of the Superintendent or his/her designee.
- B. The President of the M.E.A. shall have one additional planning period per week during his/her term in office to conduct Association business.
- C. The Superintendent of Mansfield Township School district will advise all employees of available positions as they occur by public posting of said positions on school premises.
- D. Employees may individually elect to have a percentage of their monthly salary deducted from their pay and deposited within three (3) days after each pay period by the Board of Education Secretary to Visions Credit Union.
- E. Employees will receive a stipend to attend required summer workshops or compensatory time.
- F. Maternity leaves will be granted according to the requirements established by the state and federal guidelines.
- G. The Board will provide a copy of this signed agreement to all employees covered by this Agreement.
- H. The Board will extend, to certified-tenured staff members with children, the courtesy of tuition-free enrollment into the district provided that adequate service for said child is available within the district. Transportation will be the responsibility of the staff member and will not be provided by the district.

ARTICLE XVIII - PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

- A. In each year of this contract, the Board will provide in-service professional development experiences that will assist the teaching staff in attaining the required 100 hours of continuing education.
- B. Teachers will also be eligible to attend out-of-district workshops, training seminars, and conferences related to their Professional Development_Plans. All such workshops, training seminars, and conferences must be approved by the administration prior to registration.
- C. When the administration has approved district payment for an out-of-district professional development workshop, training seminar, and/or conference, registration and mileage will be reimbursed by the Board upon presentation of a signed voucher accompanied by receipts and administrative approval forms.
- D. Registrations for approved out-of-district workshops, training seminars, and conferences may be prepaid by the Board if submitted in a timely manner.
 - E. Such days shall be considered professional.

ARTICLE XIX-SALARY SCHEDULE

Each 10-month employee shall be paid in 20 equal semi-monthly installments. The salary schedules for each school year covered by this contract (July 1, 2015, to June 30, 2018) applicable to certified personnel in the Mansfield Township School District are attached to this agreement as Exhibit "A".

SALARIES AND SETTLEMENT RATES:

• Year One: 2.40%. inclusive of increment

• Year Two: 2.40%, inclusive of increment

• Year Three: 2.40%, inclusive of increment

The length of the Salary Guide will increase from the 13 steps set forth in the Base Year (2014/2015) to 15 steps. All employees grouped together on steps 1-2 and 2-3 in the Base Year shall remain together, and they shall not be disconnected.

Salary guides will be mutually developed between the parties.

MEA/BOE Contract 30

ARTICLE XX - DURATION OF AGREEMENT

The terms of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2015, through June 30, 2018, and from year to year thereafter, subject to a written notice from either party to the other of the desire to change or amend this Agreement. To be effective, such written notice must be received by the other party by no later than one hundred and thirty-five (135) days prior to the Board's required budget submission date, pursuant to Public Employment Relation Commission regulation section 19:12-2.1.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals the date and year first above written.

MANSFIELD TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

В

ATTEST:

MANSFIELD EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

ATTEST:

MEA/BOE Contract

31

YEAR 1	1					
15/16	Mansfield					
	1					<u> </u>
Salary Guide		675	1,475	2,525	3,325	4,370
Step	BA	BA+15	BA+30	MA	MA+15	MA+30
					3374.10	WA. OU
1	52,219	52,894	53,694	54,744	55,544	56,589
2-3	52,719	53,394	54,194	55,244	56,044	57,089
4-5	53,219	53,894	54,694	55,744	56,544	57,589
6	53,719	54,394	55,194	56,244	57,044	58,089
7	54,219	54,894	55,694	56,744	57,544	58,589
8	55,189	55,864	56,664	57,714	58,514	59,559
9	56,874	57,549	58,349	59,399	60,199	61,244
10	58,809	59,484	60,284	61,334	62,134	63,179
11	60,994	61,669	62,469	63,519	64,319	65,364
12	63,429	64,104	64,904	65,954	66,754	67,799
13	66,114	66,789	67,589	68,639	69,439	70,484
14	69,049	69,724	70,524	71,574	72,374	73,419
15	72,234	72,909	73,709	74,759	75,559	76,604
16	75,669	76,704	77,144	78,194	78,994	80,039
					-	-
YEAR 2						
16/17	Mansfield					
Salary Guide		675	1,475	2,525	3,325	4,370
Step	BA	BA+15	BA+30	MA	MA+15	MA+30
11	52,219	52,894	53,694	54,744	55,544	56,589
2	53,429	54,104	54,904	55,954	56,754	57,799
3-4	53,929	54,604	55,404	56,454	57,254	58,299
5-6	54,429	55,104	55,904	56,954	57,754	58,799
7	54,929	55,604	56,404	57,454	58,254	59,299
8 .	55,929	56,604	57,404	58,454	59,254	60,299
9	57,594	58,269	59,069	60,119	60,919	61,964
10	59,529	60,204	61,004	62,054	62,854	63,899
11	61,719	62,394	63,194	64,244	65,044	66,089
12	64,159	64,834	65,634	66,684	67,484	68,529
13	66,849	67,524	68,324	69,374	70,174	71,219
14	69,789	70,464	71,264	72,314	73,114	74,159
15	72,979	73,654	74,454	75,504	76,304	77,349
16	76,419	77,454	77,894	78,944	79,744	80,789
YEAR 3						
17/18	Mansfield					
Salary Guide		675	1,475	2,525	3,325	4,370
Step	BA	BA+15	BA+30	MA	MA+15	MA+30
1	54,684	55,359	56,159	57,209	58,009	59,054
2	54,934	55,609	56,409	57,459	58,259	59,304
3	55,184	55,859	56,659	57,709	58,509	59,554
4-5	55,434	56,109	56,909	57,959	58,759	59,804
6-7	55,934	56,609	57,409	58,459	59,259	60,304
8	56,559	57,234	58,034	59,084	59,884	60,929
9	58,849	59,524	60,324	61,374	62,174	63,219
10	61,139	61,814	62,614	63,664	64,464	65,509
11	63,429	64,104	64,904	65,954	66,754	67,799
12	65,719	66,394	67,194	68,244	69,044	70,089
13	68,009	68,684	69,484	70,534	71,334	72,379
14	70,299	70,974	71,774	72,824	73,624	74,669
15	72,589	73,264	74,064	75,114	75,914	76,959
16	74,879	75,554	76,354	77,404	78,204	79,249
17	77,169	78,204	78,644	79,694	80,494	81,539